INTRODUCTION

TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF
WEST VIRGINIA:

The instant case presents a unique issue in the arena of abuse and neglect proceedings in the State of West Virginia. Specifically, the instant proceeding relates to an appeal by Mildred H. [REDACTED], regarding the final order of the Circuit Court of Mineral County, West Virginia entered on September 1, 2004 regarding the interests of her two natural children A. W. and S. H. Said order granted a resumption of visitation between Robert H. [REDACTED], the Appellee, with S. H., his natural daughter and protected child under the instant proceedings. S. H. is the natural half-sister of A. W., a victim of sexual abuse perpetrated by the Appellee.

The instant brief is filed in accordance with an Order of this Honorable Court of Appeals entered on September 9, 2004 granting a stay of the aforesated visitation between the Appellee and S. H. and also pursuant to the Order of this Court entered January 20, 2005 granting the Appellant's petition for appeal.

For the reasons hereinafter setforth, the Appellant respectfully maintains that the Circuit Court of Mineral County, West Virginia abused its discretion by reinstating visitation privileges of Robert H and that any further contact or visitations between the Appellee and S. H. is not in the best interests of and is detrimental to, the emotional well being of both of the protected children herein.

II

KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF THE RULING OF THE LOWER

TRIBUNAL

The instant case relates to an abuse and neglect proceeding which commenced on the 15th day of December 2000 at which time the Honorable David C. Harman, Mineral County magistrate, issued an Order of Ratification of Emergency Custody pursuant to a request for emergency medical examination and evidentiary discovery by the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources (hereinafter Department). The December 15, 2000 Order of Ratification of Emergency Custody issued by magistrate Harman was also ratified by telephone by the Honorable Phil Jordan, Judge of the Circuit Court of Mineral County. Thereafter on December 18, 2000 a petition was filed before the circuit court by the Department and subject thereto the court entered an order continuing custody of the minor children with the Department.

On December 28, 2000 a preliminary hearing was held before the circuit court at which

time probable cause was found to exist for continuation of the minor children in the custody of the Department.

On the 5th day of July, 2001 the Appellant entered a stipulation before the lower court to the issue of neglect and was granted a post adjudicatory period of improvement.

On August 31, 2001 the Department filed an Amended Petition before the Circuit Court alleging that A. W. had also been sexually abused by her natural father, Roy W. , several years earlier in the State of Missouri.

On September 6, 2001 an order was entered by the circuit court returning physical custody of the minor children unto the Appellant based upon her cooperation and successful fulfillment of all services required by the Department. Legal custody was ordered to remain with the Department of Health and Human Resources for an additional 90 day period.

Respectively on May 23, July 5 and September 6, 2001 evidentiary hearings were held before the circuit court for purposes of adjudication.

By order entered February 8, 2002 the circuit court affirmed the return of full legal and physical custody of the minor children unto the Appellant effective December 21, 2001.

On March 15, 2002 an order was entered by the circuit court directing the continued visitation of the Appellee with S. H. after the return of physical and legal custody unto the Appellant.

In accordance with the hearings held on May 23, July 5 and September 6, 2001, the circuit court entered its Adjudicatory Order on April 11, 2002 holding by clear and convincing evidence that the Appellee had engaged in certain sexual acts with A. W. and as a result thereof concluded that she was an abused child as defined by West Virginia Code Section 49-6-2(c).

Office.

On September 2, 2004 the Appellant petitioned this Honorable Court for a stay of execution of the order of the circuit court regarding the proceedings of August 17, 2004.

On September 9, 2004 this Honorable Court granted a stay of any further visitation between the Appellee and S. H. and further Ordered that separate guardian ad litem be appointed to represent each of the minor children's interests herein.

By subsequent order of the circuit court entered September 10, 2004 Amanda See was continued in her appointment as guardian ad litem on behalf of S. H. and Jeff Roth of Petersburg, West Virginia was appointed as guardian ad litem for A. W. It is from the August 17, 2004 order of the Circuit Court of Mineral County as entered on September 1, 2004 which the Appellant, Mildred H , respectfully seeks relief.

III

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The interests of two children are the subject of the instant case. A. W. (dob:) is the natural daughter of the Appellant and Roy W of ; S. H. (dob:) is the natural daughter of the Appellant and the Appellee. At the time of the commencement of the instant proceedings A.W. was years of age and S. H. was months old.

On December 15, 2000, the Mineral County Department of Health and Human Resources received a referral regarding sexual allegations made by A.W. Ruth Kiser, a child protective services worker with the Department, was referred to Burlington Primary School on the afternoon of December 15, 2000 to interview A.W. regarding allegations of the referral. Upon meeting with the minor child, A.W. advised Mrs. Kiser of the details regarding the sexual abuse. At the preliminary hearing held on December 28, 2000 Mrs. Kiser testified:

She told me that her stepfather, Bob, had pulled his pants down, laid on the couch and told her to sit on his legs. While she was sitting on his legs, he told her to put her hands on his penis, then told her to put her mouth on his penis. She stated that he also put his hands on his penis. She stated that his penis had hair around it. She described in detail what she had seen. She stated that something white had squirted out of his penis into her mouth and also got onto her hands. She stated that, I asked her what happened next and she said I went into the kitchen, and I asked her why she went to the kitchen, and she, she got tears in her eyes, tears welled up in her eyes, and she said to wash that stuff off of my hands. And, she said that it happened on Saturdays while her mother was working.¹

A. W. also informed Mrs. Kiser that the Appellee had threatened to kill her if she told anyone and that S. H. was present in the room at the time these incidents occurred. A. W. indicated that this had occurred on at least two occasions.²

Upon interviewing A.W., Mrs. Kiser made arrangements to inform the Appellant and within approximately 15 minutes she arrived at Burlington Primary School and met with Mrs. Kiser. Mrs. Kiser further testified at the preliminary hearing that the Appellant did not believe the allegations voiced by A. W. against the Appellee.³

As a result of concerns regarding failure to protect the infant children by the Appellant, a decision was made by the Department to take both of the minor children into custody that evening which placement of the children with the Department was affirmed pursuant to an Order of Ratification of Emergency Custody issued by David C. Harman, Mineral County magistrate on

¹ December 28, 2000 Preliminary hearing transcript pages 5-6

²December 28, 2000 Preliminary hearing transcript pages 6 and 41

³A.W. was previously sexually abused by her natural father, Roy W. [redacted], in the State of Missouri and the Appellant, at the time of meeting with Mrs. Kiser on December 15, 2000, believed that A.W. may have been confusing the respective incidents with her natural father. Preliminary transcript hearing page 7

the evening of December 15th. On December 18, 2000, a formal petition was filed before the circuit court and the same was likewise affirmed by an order entered on the same date thereby appointing counsel for all of the respective parties.

On December 16, 2000 the Appellant left the home of the Appellee and went to the Family Crisis Center in Keyser, West Virginia. On that same day, the Appellant obtained the necessary documents from the magistrate court of Mineral County and filed for a protective order against the Appellee. A protective order was issued by the magistrate court on December 22, 2000. The Appellant has remained separate and apart from the Appellee ever since December 16, 2000. On March 23, 2001, the Appellant was granted a divorce from the Appellee before the family court of Mineral County.

Pursuant to the preliminary hearing on December 28, 2000 the circuit court directed that separate visitations commence for the Appellant and Mr. H. Furthermore, A. W. and S. H. were ordered to remain in the physical and legal custody of the Department of Health and Human Resources.

On February 6, 2001 A. W. was scheduled for a psychological evaluation which was performed by Sheri Coleman, a licensed psychologist with Eastern Psychological Services of West Virginia located in Romney. Pursuant to the evaluation Mrs. Coleman recommended that A. W. undergo a sexual abuse evaluation in Morgantown and that she likewise be involved in counseling for support therapy and sexual abuse therapy. On May 24, 2001 A. W. commenced in regular counseling sessions with Mrs. Coleman which continued thereafter on a regular basis.

In accordance with Mrs. Coleman's recommendations A. W. was referred to Fremouw Psychological Associates in Morgantown for further investigation of the sexual abuse allegations. Chanin Kennedy of Fremouw Associates independently interviewed A. W. on five separate

occasions between January 30, 2001 and May 8, 2001. On May 8, 2001 Mrs. Kennedy issued a 32 page psychological evaluation report regarding her interviews with A.W. The report was very detailed setting forth an extensive history provided by A.W. of both physical and sexual abuse perpetrated upon her by her biological father, Roy Wi and the Appellee. Importantly, Mrs. Kennedy routinely presented false statements to A.W. in an attempt to confuse her but such were always clarified by the child. Furthermore, A.W. consistently reported that the Appellee never touched her in her private areas but that her biological father did. The nature of the sexual offenses committed upon A.W. by the Appellee were always consistently clarified by A.W. that she was made to touch the Appellee's private areas with both her hands and her mouth. Mrs. Kennedy further indicated that A.W. possessed sexual knowledge beyond her current developmental level and ultimately Mrs. Kennedy concluded that based upon the information provided in her evaluation "it was found that Alyssa's accusations of abuse are plausible and credible." (Page 29 psychological evaluation.) Numerous recommendations were set forth by Mrs. Kennedy in which it was opined that "it is likely that Alyssa would experience significant psychological anxiety and apprehension in having to give specific details of sexual abuse in front of multiple persons such as a judge, attorneys, etc. She would likely experience fear should Mr. H be present. Overall, the psychological harm would be extreme." (Page 32 psychological evaluation.)

On February 2, 2001 the Appellee underwent a psychological evaluation with William Snoberger of Mt. State Psychological Services of Keyser. According to the evaluation report the Appellee denied any wrongdoing with respect to the instant case and the allegations raised by A.W. On January 8, 2001 the Appellant underwent a psychological evaluation with William Snoberger of Mt. State Psychological Services. The Appellant was cooperative in the evaluation

and admitted she believed the allegations voiced by her daughter against the Appellee.

On May 23, 2001 a hearing was held before the circuit court at which time Mrs. Kennedy was qualified as an expert before the court and testified as to the manner in which her investigation and interviews with A. W. were conducted and how the same were considered with respect to the preparation of her report. Mrs. Kennedy testified that A.W. indicated that the Appellee made her touch him where he uses the bathroom and that A.W. had drawn a picture indicating where "white stuff had come out while she was rubbing him." The child also consistently reported to Mrs. Kennedy that she was "made to put her mouth on his penis as well."⁴ Through her testimony, Mrs. Kennedy then went on to discuss the sexual abuse in the State of Missouri experienced by A.W. and further to clarify that based upon the child's history of reporting during her sessions that the child was able to distinguish between events in Missouri and the events which transpired in West Virginia by the Appellee.⁵ Mrs. Kennedy also testified that A.W. told her that the Appellee threatened to kill her if she told anyone.⁶ Mrs. Kennedy further testified that A.W. also reported incidents of physical abuse by the Appellee.⁷ Pursuant to the respective interviews of A.W., the court ordered that audio tapes of Mrs. Kennedy's interviews with A.W. be released for transcription. Transcriptional copies of the respective interviews are included in the record of this case.

On July 5, 2001 an adjudicatory hearing commenced at which time the Appellant entered a stipulation as to her neglect in failing to initially protect her children and likewise agreed to the

⁴May 23, 2001 hearing transcript page 20- 22.

⁵May 23, 2001 hearing pages 26-28

⁶May 23, 2001 hearing page 31

⁷May 23, 2001 hearing page 128

problems and deficiencies which she had to address during her post-adjudicatory period of improvement.⁸ With respect to the Appellee, the adjudicatory hearing proceeded and numerous witnesses were called to present testimony. The testimony presented by Chanin Kennedy on May 23, 2001 was incorporated into the adjudicatory hearing.

On September 6, 2001 the adjudicatory hearing resumed with additional testimony presented by Chanin Kennedy among others. At said hearing, physical custody of A.W. and S.H. were returned to the Appellant based upon information provided to the court that she had successfully completed parenting classes and participated and cooperated in all services and programs required by the Department.

By order entered on the 8th day of February, 2002 full legal and physical custody of the minor children was returned to the Appellant, effective December 21, 2001. Following return of legal and physical custody to the Appellant, visitations between S.H. and the Appellee ceased. On February 25, 2002 an off the record conference with counsel, the parties and the Department and Guardian Ad Litem was held regarding a request for visitation between the Appellee and S.H. At that time an Order was entered by the Court on March 15, 2002 ordering a reinstatement of visitation between Mr. H and S.H. until a dispositional hearing could be held.

On April 11, 2002 the Adjudicatory Order in the instant case was entered by the circuit court regarding the hearings of May 23, July 5 and September 6, 2001. The court found by clear and convincing evidence that the allegations set forth in the petition alleging that the Appellee engaged in certain sexual acts with A.W. were proven and the court further concluded that as a matter of law that A.W. was an abused child as defined by West Virginia Code Section 49-6-2(c). Particularly, the circuit court's opinion was based upon the statements which A.W. initially

⁸ The Appellant likewise stipulated to an additional allegation which arose in accordance with the Amended Petition filed in the instant case on August 31, 2001.

provided to Ruth Kiser at the commencement of the investigation as well as other consistent statements made by the child to other witnesses. The Adjudicatory Order further referenced testimony by Teresa Rodeheaver who had testified that A.W. had not wanted to go home when the Appellee was there without the Appellant present and on one occasion A.W. had shut herself in the bathroom rather than go home with the Appellee.

Particularly, with respect to the testimony presented by Chanin Kennedy, the Adjudicatory Order stated "the Court finds the methodology, the thoroughness, and the objectivity and the patience by Chanin Kennedy to be the most impressive I have ever seen." In paragraph 10 of the Adjudicatory Order the circuit court set forth the following conclusions as included in Mrs. Kennedy's report:

- A. A.W. has consistently and reliably reported core and peripheral details that have occurred in her life. She immediately corrected any false information and did not take the opportunity to expand on the abuse allegations. She has continued to provide consistent details over time and to different persons.
- B. The timing and circumstances of A.W. disclosures are consistent with sexual abuse.
- C. The child used age-appropriate language such as "white stuff" and having to wash her hands after the abuse. The child has been exposed to sexual activity that she relates in a way that had to be experienced, not "made-up".
- D. Her statements are plausible. She has given a congruent description of being sexually abused and does not appear to give rehearsed or coached statements. She can be interrupted at any point during her statements and can rely upon a rational visual image to described details.
- E. The child's behavioral changes and emotional reactions to discussing the allegations are consistent with those of a victim of child sexual abuse.

Surprisingly, the circuit court made an interesting statement in the Adjudicatory Order indicating that "this Court's first reaction on hearing the allegations was 'I can't believe Bob would do that.'" The circuit court then stated that it had attributed to the Appellee a character trait of not generally having exhibited a propensity to being sexually attracted to children. The court then continued the case for a dispositional hearing on May 1, 2002.

At the May 1, 2002 dispositional hearing the Department recommended that the parental rights of the Appellee as to S.H. be terminated. The Guardian Ad Litem likewise recommended a termination of parental rights but did not object to continued supervised visits. On behalf of the Appellant, argument was presented that the parental rights of the Appellee as to S. H. be terminated and that no visitation be granted. In response, the circuit court again cited within its dispositional order that the Appellee had sexually assaulted A.W. Furthermore, the circuit court held that the Appellee had never admitted to sexually abusing A.W. and as a result of A.W. and S.H. being half-siblings in the same household, pursuant to West Virginia Code Section 49-6-5 , Robert H ' parental rights be terminated. The court then continued the issue of visitation pending the presentment of a proposed schedule of visitation by the Appellee.

On May 29, 2002 the issue of visitation came before the circuit court for hearing. At said time the Appellee proposed that he be permitted visitation with S.H. every Friday from 1:00 to 2:00 and every Saturday from 4:00 to 6:00. On behalf of the Appellant it was argued that this was not a domestic relations case and as a result of the adjudication and termination, visitation would not be warranted. The Appellant reminded the lower court that criminal proceedings against the Appellee were still pending and that all of these factors needed to be taken into consideration. The Appellant did inform the court however that she would reluctantly agree to a visitation between S.H. and the Appellee one time per month on Friday afternoon for approximately two hours.⁹ More importantly, the circuit court was informed of the Appellant's concerns about the relationship between S.H. and A.W. as the children grew older, issues arising in the household regarding the Appellee and the impact which the same would have upon each of the children. Emphasis was also placed upon the concern that the more contact the Appellee had

⁹May 29, 2002 hearing transcript pages 5-6

with S.H. the more of an adverse influence such would have upon A.W.¹⁰

The guardian ad litem concurred in part with the Appellee and in part with the Appellant but did note concerns about too much visitation.¹¹ In conclusion the Appellant advised the court that the Appellant reluctantly would agree to visits on Friday afternoon for approximately two hours but by no means was that to be considered by the court or any of the parties as a permanent agreement. Such was based at that time upon the circumstances as they existed but clarified that what transpired at the Appellee's criminal trial would have a major influence on future visitation.¹² Additional issues arose before the court regarding the dynamics of transportation and supervision for the visits.

The circuit court concluded that visitations would be held on three Saturdays per month from 3:00 to 6:00 p.m., supervised, and that the same be set for a period of 6 months at which time the parties would come back for review. The court indicated that the Appellee and S.H. had a close relationship, that the visitations had gone well and that the child seems to look forward to seeing the Appellee.¹³ Objections were noted to the court's ruling regarding the structuring of the

¹⁰May 29, 2002 hearing transcript pages 7-8

¹¹May 29, 2002 hearing transcript page 9-10 The Guardian Ad Litem also indicated "I think that essentially what the Court is considering is a request for visitation here, for permissive visitation, not as a right of visitation. And, because of that, I don't want to see any schedule that we may come up with at this time become a millstone around Mildred H. neck in the future. So, I think as well, that the supervision, not the physical supervision of the visitation, but the supervision and the final say on the schedule as to when its going to be in the future, is going to have to be with Mildred H. This is not going to be a case that is going to go back before the Family Law Master, the Family Law Judge in the future. Another thing that concerns me about being too specific about the visitation at this time, is the fact that the criminal case has not been disposed of to my knowledge."

¹²May 29, 2002 transcript hearing pages 13-14

¹³May 29, 2002 transcript hearing page 18

visitations by both counsel for the Appellant and the guardian ad litem.¹⁴

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