INTRODUCTION

Comes now Appellee Robert H. [REDACTED] to present his Appellate Brief in response to the brief of the Appellant. The Appellant has appealed a Circuit Court order granting parent/child visitation after termination of the parental rights of Appellee Robert H. [REDACTED]. For the reasons that the parent/child visit is (a) in the best interest of child S.H. and (b) not harmful to child A.W., and as the trial court did not abuse its discretion or make errors of law in its rulings, the relief requested by the Appellant should be denied. In her previously-filed "Petition for Stay," the Appellant acknowledged three significant points: that the original parent/child visits "appeared to have occurred without any problems," that the Appellant had "initially agreed" to parent/child visits, and that Guardian *ad litem* William R. Kuykendall "joined in the recommendation for a reinstatement of visitation." The lower court conducted full evidentiary hearings and found the Appellant's evidence that the visitation was harmful to either S.H. or A. W. was "weak at best," and the trial

court entered an order that the best interest of the child S.H., who had an established bond and relationship with her father, the Appellee, is to visit with that parent.

The issues presented by the Appellant are responded to hereinafter.

THE LOWER COURT

The underlying case began in December 2000, and thereafter numerous evidentiary hearings were conducted by the trial judge. The record is voluminous. During the pendency of the case and even after the lower court entered a dispositional order that terminated the Appellee's parental rights to his natural child (who was not abused), the lower court awarded some parent/child contact within the discretionary power of the trial court.

The trial court specifically retained "jurisdiction for all matters related to this case," rather than referring the case to Family Court, probably due to the circuit court's breadth and depth of knowledge of the factual situations, as well as the trial judge's familiarity with the parties and children. The subject of parent/child contacts/visitation was not new to the trial court in July and August 2004, which ruling brought about this appeal. The trial court had considered the issue on other occasions, but particularly and at some length on May 29, 2002, when the visitation privilege was extended to the Appellee by the court. As indicated hereinafter, no further objections were ever raised about the legal posture of the court's May 2002 discretionary act, nor any harm to S.H. or any harm to A.W. Then, after a lengthy hearing in August 2004 regarding resumption of visitation after the Appellee's incarceration, the trial judge remarked on the record

that the Appellant's evidence that A.W. had been and/or would be harmed by the visits was "weak at best." And, upon the full record, the trial court's studied assessment is substantiated.

At the August 2004 hearing, the trial court found the Appellant's principal witness, a psychologist, had not spoken to A.W. in some time (Transcript 8/17/04, p. 54) and that the witness could only speculate that resumption of the visits "could have" some effect on A.W. With evidence that was only "weak at best," and considering that the trial court should be overturned only upon a showing of clear abuse of discretion, the lower court order granting visitation should not be overruled or modified. No evidence exists that the trial court's findings are "clearly erroneous." *In re: Tiffany Marie S.*, 196 W.Va. 223, 470 S.E. 2d 177 (1996).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As stated by this Appellate Court in *In re: Billy Joe M.*, 206 W.Va., 1, 521 S.E. 2d 173 (1999), the standard of review in abuse and neglect cases is well recognized:

"Although conclusions of law reached by a circuit court are subject to *de novo* review, when an action, such as an abuse and neglect case, is tried upon the facts without a jury, the circuit court shall make a determination based upon the evidence and shall make findings of fact and conclusions of law as to whether such child is abused or neglected. These findings shall not be set aside by a reviewing court unless clearly erroneous. A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is evidence to support the finding, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm

conviction that a mistake has been committed. However, a reviewing court may not overturn a finding simply because it would have decided the case differently, and it must affirm a finding if the circuit court's account of the evidence is plausible in light of the record viewed in its entirety." 521 S.E. 2d at 177.

The lower court made no mistake in granting visitation.

ISSUE NUMBER ONE: BURDEN OF PROOF

The Circuit Court did not err in directing the Appellant to establish that visitation should not be resumed for the simple reason that the trial judge, after conducting lengthy hearings, had made previous determinations that visitation was appropriate, and, for the lower court to now order otherwise, the Appellant should show that circumstances had changed such that visitation should not be permitted. Once the Appellee had the court-ordered right to visit, then the court-ordered visitation should continue unless such changed circumstances presented by the Appellant would compel otherwise.

The situation that was presented to the trial court on the visitation issue is actually quite similar to deliberations made by Family Court judges in considering a reallocation of custodial responsibility of children after the original allocation at a final divorce hearing. In reassessing the allocation of custodial responsibility after the initial ruling and the passage of time with parent/child contacts, Family Court judges do not modify the allocation of custodial care unless such change was supported by a new factual situation **and** the change would materially benefit the welfare of the children.

The party seeking to change the *status quo* must bear the burden of presenting evidence that convinced the judge that a previous unappealed order should be changed.

No finding of fact by the trial court in August 2004 revealed that modifying the previous visitation order would do any harm to A.W., while at the same time the trial court found that S.H. was the beneficiary of the father/child contacts.

When the lower court continued the father/child visits even after termination of parental rights, the circuit judge remarked on the record: "And, I'm finding that it's, at this point, that [the Appellee and S.H.] do have a close relationship; that the visitation has gone well; and that the child seems to look forward to seeing [the Appellee] and at this point it is in her best interest to have visitation." (Tr. 5/29/02, p. 18). The Court had heard the Guardian ad Litem recommendation of visitation at the hearing: "I think the fact that [the Appellee] has maintained contact and has maintained very consistent visitation with [S.H.], and according to all reports, those have gone very well, is another point in favor of him having contact with the child in the future." (*Id.* at p. 8).

Interestingly, even though the Appellee appealed the lower court order terminating his parental rights and the Appellant responded, no counterappeal was made by the Appellant regarding parent/child visitation. Such failure to act was based on the fact that no circumstances supported a petition for appeal then, nor do such circumstances exist now. In point of fact, even if the burden of proof had been on the Appellee, then the testimony presented to the trial court in August 2004 would have led to the same result. In addition, S.H.'s Guardian ad litem expressed this position when

she wrote to this Appellate Court in January 2005: "In terms of whether the burden correctly lies with the [Appellee] or [Appellant] let's [*sic*] assume *arguendo*, that the burden of proof lies with the [Appellee]. He presented evidence, which established that the visitation would not be detrimental to the child and was in the child's best interest. (Letter, dated 1/3/05 to West Virginia Supreme Court).

The Court is referred elsewhere in this Appellee Brief to "Visitation Supervisor Vanessa Brooks Testimony" (p. 17) and to Kim Huff's testimony (p. 16), both of which support a finding that the Appellee did, in fact, provide compelling evidence that the parent/child visitation should resume.

VISIT REINSTATEMENT

The Mineral County Circuit Court did not err in "granting reinstatement" as no court order was ever entered that halted or terminated the visitation. The visitations were merely "suspended" due to the incarceration of the Appellee. On the face of it, the Appellee should have been able to immediately resume his visitation after his release from incarceration as no court order had been entered to the contrary.

ISSUE NUMBER TWO: DISCRETION OF THE LOWER COURT

The lower court listened patiently to all the witnesses and to counsel during a lengthy hearing on the visitation subject on August 17, 2004. The trial court found "that it is very much in [S.H.'s] best interest to not be made a, as [visit supervisor] Ms. Huff said, a one parent child; that the visits went well and **overwhelming testimony** of that;

that [the Appellee] was very appropriate during, during the visits and that it's to benefit [S.H.] to have these visits; to know her father and to have a relationship with him; and that she looked forward to them. And, it's very much in [S.H.'s] interest to continue the visitation." (Tr. 8/17/04, pp. 161-162, emphasis supplied).

The trial court also took into account the effect of visits between the Appellee and his daughter S.H. on A.W., saying: "[T]he testimony as to the adverse effects on [A.W.] was, I would say, weak at best. I was surprised that [psychologist] Ms. Coleman had not talked to [A.W.] talked to her in quite some time, certainly since [the Appellee's] been out of jail, about this. The fact that she said that they could be, could have these effects, the depression and anxiety could increase, that she hadn't discussed those with [A.W.], and certainly there's a lot of other factors going on in [A.W.'s] life that could also cause anxiety besides these." (Tr. 8/17/04, p. 162). The judge went on to say that the court also had "the testimony of Vanessa Brooks and Kim Huff; that they had a relationship with [A.W.] and she expressed no real anxiety to them about these visits. So, I'm finding that any effect, there's just not any convincing evidence that this would have any major adverse effect on [A.W.]." (Tr. 8/17/04, pp. 162-163).

At the August 2004 hearing, the Appellee's counsel concluded: "From the time of this court hearing that we conducted here on May 29, 2002, no one, or any agency, filed any objection to the visitation schedule that was done. No one came in here with a report that there was some bad effect on either of these two girls, either [A.W.] or [S.H.]. No one came in here and said that there was an objection to Kim Huff during the nine visits or so that she conducted, all the way up until August 4 when [the Appellee] . . .

went to jail. . . . There was no motion made in here during these 50 or so visits that there was any bad effect on [A.W.]. We only hear it now. And, it's weak." (Tr. 8/17/04, pp. 165-166).

ISSUE NUMBER TWO: NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The "final order" and "ultimate disposition" in this termination of parental rights/visitation case clearly was within the sole province of the trial judge: the judge who presided over the case for four years; the judge who had read a large number of reports; the judge who had listened to and watched all of the witnesses; the judge who heard the recommendations of the appointed Guardian *ad litem*; and, just as importantly, the judge who presided over the criminal charges against the Appellee.

One wonders: would not this trial judge have more information – even conflicting information - about this Appellee and the best interests of the two children than anyone else imaginable.

Numerous hearings were conducted by the trial court in the abuse/neglect case and in the criminal case, and the Appellee took the witness stand in the civil case. If the trial judge had any thought that the Appellee's contact with his daughter S.H. was harmful to the child or not in her best interest, he did not express them. Why? Obviously, because the contacts were never deemed to be harmful to the child, and the contacts were deemed to be in her best interest. For another thing, no person nor any agency presented any pleading or other communication to the trial judge after the visitations began that either A.W. or S.H. were harmed – even in the least – by the

visits. No adverse psychological reports were filed, no adverse letters were written, no adverse motions for reconsideration were filed, no adverse Guardian *ad litem* concern was voiced, no appeal was filed – nothing! Nothing!

Trial judges are frequently second-guessed, which is the nature of the job. But, when they have done their job as thoroughly as this judge did on this issue, then his deliberate and thoughtful decision should stand.

ISSUE NUMBER TWO: PARENTAL VISITATION: DISCRETION OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

Facts found by the Circuit Court should not be disturbed unless they are found to be “clearly erroneous.” Based upon the evidence, the Circuit Court made a finding that:

Visits between S.H. and the Appellee are in the best interest of S.H. This was shown from evidence that S.H. had always been excited about seeing her father for past visitation, so much so that S.H. would sometimes cry when she had to leave him or when she thought visitation was going to be cancelled or postponed. Evidence was also presented that during those visits S.H. and the Appellee played and interacted appropriately, got along well, and seemed to enjoy themselves. S.H. never showed any signs of being afraid of Robert H

On several occasions this Appellate Court has considered visitation between children whose parents have had their parental rights terminated. For one thing, this Court has determined that the right to “post-termination visitation is the right of the child, not the parent.” (*In re Christina L.*, 194 W.Va. 446, 453 (1995); cited in *In re Billy Joe*

M., 206 W.Va. 1, fn10). This Court has consistently ruled that the “best interest of the child” is the guiding light for circuit judges who consider that issue (*In re Billy Joe M.*, 206 W.Va. 1, 177 (1999)) and the “close emotional bond that has been established between parent and child” is an important consideration. (*Id.* at 178.) The close emotional bond between the Appellee and his daughter was apparent from the testimony heard by the trial court and as cited in this brief.

This Court has considered the parent visitation issue on other occasions, stressing the “emotional bond” criterion and the trial court’s discretion, saying in *In Christina L.*

When parental rights are terminated due to neglect or abuse, the circuit court may nevertheless in appropriate cases consider whether continued visitation or other contact with the abusing parent is in the best interest of the child. Among other things, the circuit court should consider whether a close emotional bond has been established between parent and child and the child’s wishes, if he or she is of appropriate maturity to make such request. The evidence must indicate that such visitation or continued contact would not be detrimental to the child’s well being and would be in the child’s best interest.

(Syl. pt. 5.)

In re Christina L. was cited by this Court in *In re Katie S.*, 198 W.Va. 79, 91 (1996), when the Court remanded *In re Katie S.* to the circuit court “to determine if continued visitation or other contact between the respondent and Katie S. would be detrimental to Katie S.’s well being and if the visitation would be in Katie S.’s best interest.” The trial judge in the case at bar took such evidence and heard argument

from all sides, before he exercised his discretion in granting the visits. All issues were thoroughly examined, and no discretion was abused.

THE GUARDIANS

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